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 By this Order, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("Board" or 
"PCAOB") is (1) permanently revoking the registration of Gruber & Co., LLC ("G&C"); 
and (2) permanently barring E. Randall Gruber, CPA ("Gruber") from being an 
associated person of a registered public accounting firm. The Board is imposing these 
sanctions against G&C and Gruber (collectively "Respondents") on the basis of its 
findings concerning Respondents' violations of PCAOB rules and auditing standards in 
connection with their non-cooperation with a Board inspection in which they improperly 
created, added, and backdated audit documentation prior to and during a Board 
inspection in violation of PCAOB Rule 4006 and Auditing Standard No. 3. 
 

I. 
 

On March 21, 2012, the Board instituted disciplinary proceedings pursuant to 
Section 105(c) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended ("Act") and PCAOB 
Rule 5200(a)(1) against Respondents.  Pursuant to Section 105(c)(2) of the Act and 
PCAOB Rule 5203, these proceedings were not public.  Pursuant to Section 105(c)(2) 
and PCAOB Rule 5203, the Board determined that good cause was shown to make the 
hearing in this proceeding public.  As permitted by Section 105(c)(2) of the Act and 
PCAOB Rule 5203, the Division of Enforcement and Investigations consented to making 
the hearing in this proceeding public.  As permitted by Section 105(c)(2) of the Act and 
PCAOB Rule 5203,  Respondents did not consent to making the hearing public. 
 

II. 

In response to these proceedings and pursuant to PCAOB Rule 5205, 
Respondents each submitted an Offer of Settlement ("Offer") that the Board has 
determined to accept.  Solely for purposes of these proceedings and any other 
proceedings brought by or on behalf of the Board, or to which the Board is a party, and 
without admitting or denying the findings herein, except as to the Board's jurisdiction 
over Respondents and the subject matter of these proceedings, which is admitted, 
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Respondents consent to the entry of this Order Making Findings and Imposing 
Sanctions ("Order") as set forth below.1/ 

III. 

On the basis of Respondents' Offers, the Board finds that:2/ 

A. Respondents 

1. G&C is a limited liability company headquartered in Lake Saint Louis, 
Missouri.  G&C is registered with the Board pursuant to Section 102 of the Act and 
PCAOB Rules.  It is licensed by the Missouri State Board of Accountancy (License No. 
2002009503).  At all times relevant to this Order, Gruber was the sole principal and 
owner of G&C, and G&C had no other audit staff.  From the time the Board instituted 
these proceedings until issuance of this Order, G&C issued 11 audit reports for issuers. 

2. E. Randall Gruber, age 61, of Lake Saint Louis, Missouri, is the Managing 
Member of G&C, its sole principal and owner, and a certified public accountant licensed 
in the state of Missouri (License No. 006667).  At all times relevant to this matter, 
Gruber was an associated person of G&C, as that term is defined in Section 2(a)(9) of 
the Act and PCAOB Rule 1001(p)(i). 

                                                 
1/  The findings herein are made pursuant to the Respondents' Offers and are 

not binding on any other person or entity in this or any other proceeding.  
 

2/  The sanctions that the Board is imposing on Respondents in this Order 
may be imposed only if a respondent's conduct meets one of the conditions set out in 
Section 105(c)(5) of the Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7215(c)(5). The Board finds that Respondents' 
conduct described in this Order meets the condition set out in Section 105(c)(5), which 
provides that such sanctions may be imposed in the event of (A) intentional or knowing 
conduct, including reckless conduct, that results in a violation of the applicable statutory, 
regulatory, or professional standard; or (B) repeated instances of negligent conduct, 
each resulting in a violation of the applicable statutory, regulatory, or professional 
standard. 
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B. Other Entities and Individuals  

3. Firm A is registered with the Board pursuant to Section 102 of the Act and 
PCAOB Rules.  At all times relevant to this matter, Firm A had one principal and owner, 
Individual A, and no audit staff.     

4. Individual A, is the sole owner of Firm A, and a certified public accountant.  
At all times relevant to this matter, Individual A was an associated person of Firm A, as 
that term is defined in Section 2(a)(9) of the Act and PCAOB Rule 1001(p)(i).   

5. Individual B is a former CPA.  Although Individual B was not an employee 
of G&C, individual B referred work to G&C.   

6. Individual C is a non-accountant hired by G&C to assist in a number of 
audits performed by G&C.  Individual C was employed by G&C at all times relevant to 
this matter.   

C. Summary 

7. This matter concerns Respondents' violations of PCAOB rules and 
auditing standards.  Respondents repeatedly violated Rule 4006, Duty to Cooperate 
with Inspectors, and Auditing Standard No. 3 ("AS3"), Audit Documentation.   

8. In violation of Rule 4006, Respondents provided a misleading document 
and other information concerning the purported audit of the 2007 financial statements of 
Issuer A to the Board in connection with the Board's inspection of that audit.  In addition, 
Respondents and others acting on their behalf improperly created, altered, and 
backdated audit documentation concerning G&C's purported audit of Issuer A and 
improperly created, altered and backdated audit documentation related to G&C's audits 
of the 2007 financial statements of Issuer B and Issuer C.  Respondents took these 
actions after being informed that the Board was inspecting G&C, in violation of Rule 
4006.   

9. In violation of AS3, Respondents, and others acting on their behalf, added 
documents as well as signatures and other markings to audit documentation related to 
the above-mentioned audits without indicating the dates that those documents and 
markings were added to the working papers, the names of the persons preparing the 
additional documentation, and the reason for adding the documentation months after 
the documentation completion date.   
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D. Respondents Violated PCAOB Rules and Auditing Standards 

10. PCAOB Rule 4006 provides, in part, that "[e]very registered public 
accounting firm, and every associated person of a registered public accounting firm, 
shall cooperate with the Board in the performance of any Board inspection."3/  This 
cooperation responsibility "includes an obligation not to provide misleading documents 
or information in connection with the Board's inspection processes."4/  PCAOB rules 
also require that registered public accounting firms and their associated persons comply 
with the Board's auditing standards.5/  Among other things, PCAOB auditing standards 
require that an auditor make certain written disclosures if the auditor makes additions to 
audit documentation after the documentation completion date.6/    

a. Issuer A 2007 Audit 

11. On April 14, 2008, Issuer A filed a Form 10-KSB with the Commission, for 
the year ending December 31, 2007.  Included in that filing was an audit report dated 
April 7, 2008, signed by "Gruber & Company, LLC" ("Issuer A 2007 audit report").  
Although the audit report bore the signature of G&C, it was prepared by Individual B, 
who had performed the audit without Gruber's knowledge or authorization. 

 

                                                 
3/ PCAOB Rule 4006, Duty to Cooperate with Inspectors. 

 
4/  Drakeford & Drakeford, LLC, PCAOB Rel. No. 105-2009-002 (June 16, 

2009) ¶ 8; Darrin G. Estella, CPA, PCAOB Rel. No. 105-2011-004 (Aug. 1, 2011); Peter 
O'Toole, CPA, PCAOB Rel. No. 105-2011-005 (Aug. 1, 2011); Chisholm, Bierwolf, 
Nilson & Morrill, LLC, PCAOB Rel. No. 105-2011-003 (Apr. 8, 2011).  See also Gately & 
Assocs., LLC, SEC Rel. No. 34-62656 at 22-23 (Aug. 5, 2010) (sustaining Board finding 
that respondents failed to cooperate with Board inspection).   
 

5/  See PCAOB Rule 3100, Compliance with Auditing and Related 
Professional Practice Standards. 
 

6/  See AS3 ¶ 15-16.  
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12. The audit report release date was April 14, 2008.7/ The documentation 
completion date, therefore, was May 29, 2008.8/  Although information may be added to 
the working papers after the documentation completion date, any such documentation 
must disclose the date the information was added, the name of the person preparing the 
additional documentation, and the reason for adding it.9/  

i. Respondents Provided a Misleading Document and Other 
Information to the Inspections Division Prior to the Field Work 

13. On April 7, 2008, just prior to the issuance of the Issuer A 2007 audit 
report, the Board's Division of Registration and Inspections ("Inspections Division")  
confirmed in writing with  G&C, through Gruber, that it had selected G&C for inspection.  
Field work for the inspection was scheduled to commence in September 2008.   

14. On April 7, 2008, as part of the Board's notification of the inspection, the 
Inspections Division provided G&C with a form, entitled "Exhibit B – Issuer Information 
Form" ("Exhibit B").  Exhibit B required G&C to provide, among other information, a list 
of all audit opinions for issuers released under the firm's name between May 1, 2007 
and March 31, 2008.   

15. Gruber completed Exhibit B and, on or about May 2, 2008, provided it to 
the Inspections Division. On the completed Exhibit B, Gruber represented that Issuer A 
became a client of G&C in March 2008, and that on April 7, 2008, the Firm issued an 
audit report on Issuer A's December 31, 2007 financial statements.  On the completed 
Exhibit B, Gruber listed himself as the engagement partner for the Issuer A audit, 
indicating that he had incurred 48 hours on the audit, and that his concurring review 
partner had incurred six hours on that audit. 

16. At the time Gruber completed Exhibit B and provided it to the Inspections 
Division, he knew that: (a) G&C had not authorized the issuance of the Issuer A 2007 
audit report, and (b) G&C and Gruber had not conducted any work in connection with 

                                                 
7/  See id. at ¶ 14 (defining the audit report release date as "date the auditor 

grants permission to use the auditor's report in connection with the issuance of the 
company's financial statements"). 
 

8/  See id.  at ¶ 15 (defining documentation completion date as "a date not 
more than 45 days after the report release date"). 
 

9/  See id. at ¶ 16.   
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the issuance of the Issuer A 2007 audit report.  At no point in time did Gruber inform the 
Inspections Division of these facts in connection with the inspection of the Firm.  

17. The  Inspections Division was originally scheduled to visit G&C's office on 
September 8, 2008, to conduct a review of certain audits conducted by the Firm. Gruber 
requested a delay of the inspection, and on August 28, 2008, the Inspections Division 
granted Gruber's request, and notified Gruber that it would visit the Firm during the 
week of October 6, 2008.  

18.  During the week preceding the Inspections Division's planned visit of 
G&C's office commencing on October 6, 2008, Gruber arranged for Individual A, 
Individual B, and Individual C to meet him in Missouri for a "firm retreat," held in a hotel 
conference room.  Gruber and Individual B paid the travel and other expenses of 
Individual A and Individual C.  The firm retreat occurred from September 29, 2008 
through October 8, 2008. During the firm retreat, Gruber, Individual A, Individual B and 
Individual C met and prepared for the upcoming visit by the Inspections Division.    

19. Gruber asked Individual B to attend in order to facilitate the handover of 
working papers related to any opinions Individual B had issued under the G&C name in 
case the Inspections Division selected that audit and related opinion for inspection.  
Individual A and Individual C were present due to their involvement in other G&C 2007 
audits. Individual C had assisted in several audits. Individual A had acted as a 
concurring review partner in several audits including the Issuer B and Issuer C 2007 
audits.       

20. On October 3, 2008, Gruber contacted the Inspections Division to confirm 
the dates of its visit and to inquire about which audit engagements the Inspections 
Division would review.  The Inspections Division confirmed the dates with Gruber, and 
identified to him four issuers' audits for review, including Issuer A, Issuer B and Issuer 
C.  

21. Immediately upon learning that the Inspections Division planned to 
examine the Issuer A audit, Gruber, during the firm retreat, instructed Individual B to 
provide him with all documentation for the Issuer A 2007 audit.  Individual B then 
arranged to have Issuer A management provide this documentation to Gruber, which 
Gruber received on or about October 3, 2008. This was the first time Gruber had seen 
any audit documentation related to the Issuer A 2007 Audit Report.  
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ii. Gruber Altered, Created, Backdated, and Instructed Others to 
Backdate Issuer A Audit Documentation 

22. At the time of the firm retreat, the AS3  documentation completion date for 
the Issuer A 2007 Audit Report had passed. 

23. At the time of the firm retreat, Gruber was aware of AS3's requirements.   
In particular, Gruber was aware of AS3's requirement that an auditor must complete 
audit documentation within 45 days of an audit report release date, and that any 
changes to that documentation after the documentation completion date must indicate 
the date the information was added, the name of the person who prepared the 
additional documentation, and the reason for adding it.   

24. During the firm retreat on October 3, 2008, Gruber altered, created, and 
backdated a set of audit working papers purporting to relate to the Issuer A 2007 Audit 
Report.  Gruber's actions included:  (a) signing off on and backdating audit working 
papers that neither G&C nor Gruber prepared or reviewed in connection with issuance 
of the Issuer A 2007 Audit Report; (b) making handwritten entries on certain audit 
working papers for work that neither G&C nor Gruber had performed prior to issuance of 
the Issuer A 2007 Audit Report, including audit work related to Cash in Bank ("A4 
Working Paper"); (c) adding a handwritten list of procedures to the A4 working paper; 
(d) permitting Individual B to include Gruber's initials on multiple PCAOB audit 
checklists; (e) and permitting Individual B to include Gruber's name as G&C's 
engagement partner on the  Engagement Completion Document. 

25. Gruber also instructed Individual C and Individual A to sign and backdate 
certain Issuer A working papers.  For example, regarding audit work related to 
Commercial Paper ("A5 Working Paper"), Gruber directed Individual C to sign and 
backdate the working paper to March 17, 2008, then Gruber himself signed the 
"approved by" block, which he backdated to March 22, 2008.  Gruber then instructed 
Individual A to place his initials and the date March 30, 2008 on the A5 Working Paper, 
which Individual A did. 

iii. At Gruber's Direction, Individual A Created, Altered, and Backdated 
Issuer A Audit Documentation 

26. During the firm retreat, Gruber informed Individual A that the Inspections 
Division planned to review the Issuer A 2007 audit.   

27. At Gruber's request, Individual A assisted Individual B and Gruber in the 
creation of various audit documentation that had not previously existed, including 
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documentation related to planning, risk assessment, internal control and audit 
completion.  

28. Also at Gruber's request, Individual A initialed and backdated to April 3, 
2008, certain documentation related to audit planning, risk assessment, internal control 
and completion, and signed and backdated an audit working paper to July 30, 2008.   

iv. Respondents Provided Misleading Audit Documentation to the 
Inspections Division 

29. Field work for the Board's inspection occurred during the week of October 
6, 2008.  During the field work, Gruber and G&C presented the misleading audit working 
papers for the Issuer A 2007 Audit to the Inspections Division.   

30. At no time during the inspection, did Gruber indicate to the Inspections 
Division that neither he nor Individual A had performed any audit work prior to issuance 
of the Issuer A 2007 Audit Report, or that in October 2008, they and others had 
improperly created and modified audit documentation to associate with the audit report.   

31. Additionally, at no time during the inspection, did Gruber inform the 
inspection team of his belief or knowledge that Individual B had, without G&C's 
authorization, issued the Issuer A 2007 Audit Report as well as other audit reports in 
G&C's name that were not the subject of the Board's 2008 inspection.   

32. Immediately following the field work of the Inspections Division, Gruber 
directed Individual A to prepare and backdate to March 2008, an independence letter 
purportedly related to the Issuer A 2007 Audit, which Individual A did.  Gruber then 
produced the backdated independence letter to the inspection team.  Neither Gruber 
nor Individual A informed the Inspections Division that this document was backdated.   

33. On October 30, 2009, the Inspections Division provided Gruber's Firm with 
a draft report of its October 2008 inspection.  On November 29, 2009, Gruber submitted 
to the Inspections Division a response to the draft inspection report.  In the Firm's 
response, Gruber reiterated that the Firm had performed an audit of Issuer A's 2007 
financial statements.  

34. At no point prior to the Division's investigation into this matter did Gruber 
withdraw or disassociate himself or G&C from the Issuer A 2007 audit report.  It was 
only in response to the Division's March 2010 request for documentation related to the 
Issuer A 2007 audit report as part of its investigation that Gruber represented for the 
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first time to the Board  that he and G&C had not been involved in the Issuer A 2007 
audit.   

35. It was not until his September 2010 testimony as part of the Division's 
investigation, and the Division's inquiry about the creation or modification of certain 
audit work papers, that Gruber acknowledged that in fact, Gruber, Individual A, 
Individual B and Individual C had created, altered and backdated audit documentation 
related to Issuer A's 2007 financial statements.   

b. Issuer B 2007 Audit 

36. G&C audited Issuer B's 2007 financial statements. Gruber served as the 
auditor with final responsibility for the engagement.  Individual A served as the 
concurring review partner. 

37. On April 15, 2008, Issuer B filed a Form 10-KSB with the Commission.  
Included in that filing was an audit report dated April 11, 2008, signed by "Gruber & Co. 
LLP" ("Issuer B 2007 audit report").     

38. The audit report release date was April 15, 2008. The documentation 
completion date, therefore, was May 30, 2008.     

39. During the October 2008 firm retreat addressed above, the Inspections 
Division informed Gruber that the inspection team would be examining G&C's audit of 
Issuer B's 2007 financial statements. 

40. At the time of the firm retreat, Gruber understood that the documentation 
completion date for the Issuer B audit had passed.  

41. At the time of the firm retreat, Gruber was also aware of AS3's 
requirements.  In particular, Gruber was aware of AS3's requirement that an auditor 
must complete audit documentation within 45 days of an audit report release date, and 
that any changes to that documentation after the documentation completion date must 
indicate the date the information was added, the name of the person who prepared the 
additional documentation, and the reason for adding it.   

42. In response to learning that the Inspections Division would be examining 
G&C's audit of Issuer B's 2007 financial statements, Gruber asked Individual A to "clean 
up" the Issuer B audit working papers and to memorialize Individual A's concurring 
review work in the working papers.   
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43. In October 2008 and prior to the inspection visit, Gruber provided 
Individual A for the first time with a set of working papers and financial statements for 
the Issuer B 2007 audits.  At that time, Gruber and Individual A decided that Individual A 
would initial and backdate to April 15, 2008, audit programs and checklists including 
various audit planning and audit program documents.  After receiving these documents, 
Individual A initialed and backdated them to April 15, 2008.  

44. In addition, during the firm retreat, after discussions with Gruber, Individual 
A initialed and backdated to April 15, 2008, audit working papers related to the audit of 
financial statement balances and altered or created working papers related to planning 
and audit completion. 

45. During field work for the Board's inspection, Respondents presented the 
misleading audit working papers for the Issuer B 2007 Audit to the Inspections Division.   

46. At no time prior to the investigation of this matter, did Gruber disclose to 
the Board that he and Individual A had improperly created, signed off, and backdated 
these documents before or during the Inspections Division's inspection of the Gruber 
Firm. 

47. During the field work, the Inspections Division noted the absence of an 
independence letter from Individual A.  Again, at Gruber's request, Individual A prepared 
and backdated to January 1, 2008, an independence letter for the 2007 Issuer B audit, 
which Gruber then provided to the Inspections Division.  Neither Individual A nor Gruber 
informed the Inspections Division at any time that this document was backdated.  

c. Issuer C 2007 Audit 

48. G&C audited Issuer C's 2007 financial statements.  Gruber served as the 
auditor with final responsibility for the engagement.  Individual A served as the 
concurring review partner. 

49. On March 24, 2008, Issuer C filed a Form 10-KSB with the Commission.  
Included in that filing was an audit report dated March 17, 2008, signed by "Gruber & 
Co. LLP" ("Issuer C 2007 audit report"). 

50. The audit report release date was March 24, 2008.  The documentation 
completion date, therefore, was May 7, 2008.      
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51.   During the October 2008 firm retreat addressed above, the Inspections 
Division informed Gruber that the inspection team would be examining G&C's audit of 
Issuer C's 2007 financial statements.   

52. At the time of the firm retreat, Gruber understood that the documentation 
completion date for the Issuer C audit had passed.  

53. At the time of the firm retreat, Gruber was also aware of AS3's 
requirements.  In particular, Gruber was aware of AS3's requirement that an auditor 
must complete audit documentation within 45 days of an audit report release date, and 
that any changes to that documentation after the documentation completion date must 
indicate the date the information was added, the name of the person who prepared the 
additional documentation, and the reason for adding it.    

54. In response to learning that the Inspections Division would be examining 
G&C's audit of Issuer C's 2007 financial statements, Gruber asked Individual A to help 
"clean up" the Issuer C audit working papers and to memorialize Individual A's 
concurring review work in the working papers.     

55. In October 2008, Gruber provided Individual A for the first time with 
various audit planning and audit program documents.  Gruber and Individual A then 
decided that Individual A would initial and backdate those documents to March 22, 
2008.   

56. Although Individual A had not previously seen these working papers, in 
consultation with Gruber, he initialed and backdated all of them, except PCA-AP-2, 
Audit Program for General Auditing and Completion Procedures, to March 22, 2008.   

57. During field work for the Board's inspection, Respondents Gruber and 
G&C presented the misleading audit working papers for the Issuer C 2007 Audit to the 
Inspections Division. 

58. At no time prior to the investigation of this matter, did Gruber disclose to 
the Board that he and Individual A had improperly created, signed off, and backdated 
these documents prior to or during the Inspections Division's inspection of the Gruber 
Firm. 

59. During the field work, the inspection team noted the absence of an 
independence letter from Individual A.  Again at Gruber's request, Individual A prepared 
and backdated to January 1, 2008, an independence letter for the 2007 Issuer C audit 
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which Gruber provided to the Inspections Division.  Neither Individual A nor Gruber 
informed the Inspections Division at any time that this document was backdated. 

60. As a result of the conduct described above, Respondents violated Rule 
4006, Duty to Cooperate with Inspectors, and AS3, Audit Documentation. 

IV. 

In view of the foregoing, and to protect the interests of investors and further the 
public interest in the preparation of informative, accurate, and independent audit 
reports, the Board determines it appropriate to impose the sanctions agreed to in 
Respondents' Offers.  Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that: 

 
Pursuant to Sections 105(c)(4)(A) of the Act and PCAOB Rule 5300(a)(1), the 

registration of Gruber & Co., LLC is permanently revoked; and  
 
Pursuant to Section 105(c)(4)(B) of the Act and PCAOB Rule 5300(a)(2), E. 

Randall Gruber, CPA is permanently barred from being an associated person of a 
registered public accounting firm, as that term is defined in Section 2(a)(9) of the Act 
and PCAOB Rule 1001(p)(i). 
 
 
       ISSUED BY THE BOARD 
 
 
 
       /s/ Phoebe W. Brown 
                                                    
       Phoebe W. Brown 
       Secretary 
 
 
       June 27, 2013 
        


